**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

---

**NO. 16-1171**

**Union County No. PCCV017906**

---

**KEVIN KEL FRANKLIN, JR.,**

**Applicant - Appellant,**

**vs.**

**STATE OF IOWA,**

**Respondent - Appellee.**

---

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
IN AND FOR UNION COUNTY**

**Honorable John D. Lloyd, Presiding**

---

**APPELLANT'S BRIEF  
AND  
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

---

Unes J. Booth  
BOOTH LAW FIRM  
122 West Jefferson  
Osceola, Iowa 50213  
Tel: 641-342-2619  
Fax: 641-342-2019  
[ujboothlaw@windstream.net](mailto:ujboothlaw@windstream.net)  
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

Thomas J. Miller  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF IOWA  
Criminal Appeals Division  
1305 E. Walnut Street

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. **WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT CONCLUDED THAT IT LACKED SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION TO CONSIDER THE APPLICANT'S CLAIM UNDER IOWA CODE § 822.2(1)(e).**<sup>1</sup>

### AUTHORITIES

#### CASES

*Castro v. State*, 795 N.W.2d 789 (Iowa 2011)

*Dunbar v. State*, 515 N.W.2d 12 (Iowa 1994)

*Maghee v. State*, 773 N.W.2d 228 (Iowa 2008)

*McKune v. Lile*, 536 U.S. 24 (2002)

*Reilly v. Iowa Dist. Court for Henry County*, 783 N.W.2d 490 (Iowa 2010)

*State v. Denato*, 173 N.W.2d 576 (Iowa 1970)

*State v. Fountain*, 786 N.W.2d 260 (Iowa 2010)

*State v. Iowa Dist. Court for Webster County*, 801 N.W.2d 513 (Iowa 2011)

*State v. Schlitter*, 881 N.W.2d 380 (Iowa 2016), reh'g denied (July 13, 2016)

*State v. Webber*, 885 N.W.2d 829, 2016 WL 4035239 (Iowa Ct. App. 2016)

---

<sup>1</sup> The Applicant is not appealing the district court ruling denying his Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence.

## **STATUTES AND RULES**

Iowa Admin. Code R. 201-1.8(5)

Iowa Admin. Code R. 201-40.1(905)

Iowa Code § 822.2(1)(e)

Iowa Code § 903A.1

Iowa Code § 903A.2(a)(1)(d)

Iowa Code § 903A.2(1)(a)(2)

Iowa Code § 903A.3(1)

Iowa Code § 903A.4

Iowa Code § 904.102

Rule R. Civil Procedure 1.904(2)

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case involves a substantial question as to whether an Applicant states a permissible claim under Iowa Code § 822.2(1)(e) when he has been denied the opportunity to immediately participate in the Sex Offender Treatment Program based on the policy of the Iowa Department of Corrections to deny treatment until just prior to fully discharging his sentence, which serves no legitimate rehabilitative goal and is nothing more than a disciplinary action based on an inmate's prior offense conduct concealed under the guise of a treatment policy with the sole purpose of ensuring maximum punishment. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(a), (b), (c), (d) & (f).

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **A. NATURE OF THE CASE.**

Kevin Kel Franklin appeals from the order entered July 6, 2016, dismissing his pro se application for postconviction relief.

### **B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS.**

The Applicant was convicted June 15, 1990, of Murder in the Second Degree in violation of Iowa Code § 707.3 (1989) and of Sexual Abuse in the Second Degree in violation of Iowa Code §§ 708.1 and



709.3(1) (1989) and sentenced to consecutive sentences of fifty years and twenty five years, respectively. (App. 1-2). Neither sentence was subject to a mandatory minimum. See generally Iowa Code Chapter 902 (1989). Direct appeal was denied June 21, 1991. (App. 3-4). Procedendo issue July 12, 1991. (App. 5).

On November 5, 2015, the Applicant filed a pro se application for postconviction relief claiming: “Applicant is otherwise unlawfully held in custody or other restraint.” 11/5/15 PCR Application p. 2 (App. 6-8). The Applicant simultaneously filed a Motion for Correction of an Illegal Sentence pursuant to Rule 2.24(5)(a) of the Iowa Rules of Criminal Procedure. (App. 9).

Postconviction Counsel was appointed November 6, 2015, to represent the Applicant. (App. 10-12).

On February 3, 2016, the State filed a Motion for Summary Judgment asserting in Division One that the application for postconviction relief was untimely, that there was no factual or legal basis to support the allegations, and that there was no genuine issue of material fact to be determined. In Division Two, the State asserted the Applicant’s motion to correct an illegal sentence should be characterized

as a parole/administrative issue cognizable only under Iowa Code § 822.2(1)(g). 2/3/16 Motion (App. 13-15).

No resistance was filed either by the Applicant pro se or by Postconviction Counsel.

Hearing on the State's Motion for Summary Judgment was held June 10, 2016, with the Applicant participating telephonically. 6/10/16 MSJ Hrg. Trans. pp. 1:1-2:12. On July 6, 2016, the Court stated the issue as whether "an attack on a policy of the Department of Corrections and Board of Parole fall under chapter 822." 7/6/16 Ruling p. 2 (App. 19). After noting the Iowa Supreme Court decision in *Maghee v. State*, 773 N.W.2d 228, 241 (Iowa 2009), which held that disciplinary actions are subject to review under chapter 822, the Court then determined this case was "not a disciplinary action," nor "a review of the underlying conviction or sentence," concluded the Court lacked "subject matter jurisdiction," granted the State's motion for summary judgment and dismissed the Applicant's "petition." 7/6/16 Ruling p. 3 (App. 20).

### **C. FACTS.**

Applicant is currently parole and work release eligible and has been since 2012. By IDOC policy and procedures, applicant is required to participate and complete sex offender treatment programming (SOTP). The DOC has

continually denied the applicant's requests to participate in SOTP, even though due to the law at the time applicant was sentenced he is not required to participate in SOTP, and furthermore can not by law nor by IDOC policy be punished for not taking SOTP. Applicant asserts that this is being done intentionally and maliciously as a way for the IDOC to artificially lengthen his sentence and effectively remove any meaningful chance of parole or work release for the applicant.

...

The applicant has requested to administrative staff at FDCF verbally and in writing to put in for SOTP. Applicant has put in written classification requests, and followed through the appeal process. All of this has yielded naught for the applicant, being told it is not time for him to go to SOTP.

11/5/15 PCR Application p. 2 (App. 7).

## **ARGUMENT**

**THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT CONCLUDED THAT IT LACKED SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION TO CONSIDER THE APPLICANT'S CLAIM UNDER IOWA CODE § 822.2(1)(e).**

### **A. ERROR PRESERVATION.**

Although the Applicant stated his claim in the language of Iowa Code § 822.2(1)(e) (“The person's sentence has expired, or probation, parole, or conditional release has been unlawfully revoked, or the person is otherwise unlawfully held in custody or other restraint.”), Postconviction Counsel failed to apprise the Court that this was in-fact

the provision the Applicant was relying on. *See generally* 6/10/16 Hearing Trns.

Although the Court may have indirectly considered the applicability of Iowa Code § 822.2(1)(e) to “disciplinary decisions of the Department of Corrections” when it cited *Maghee v. State*, 773 N.W.2d 228 (Iowa 2008), Postconviction Counsel failed to assert that the policy of the Department of Corrections is in-fact a disciplinary decision based on prior conduct and failed to file a motion pursuant to Rule 1.904(2) of the Iowa Rules of Civil Procedure to enlarge or amend the ruling.

The ineffective assistance of Postconviction Counsel constitutes cause for failure to adequately raise an issue. *Dunbar v. State*, 515 N.W.2d 12, 14-15 (Iowa 1994).

“Ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claims are an exception to the traditional error-preservation rules.” *State v. Fountain*, 786 N.W.2d 260, 263 (Iowa 2010). “To establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence: (1) that trial counsel failed to perform an essential duty, and (2) that prejudice resulted from this failure.” *Id.* at 265. “The claim fails if the defendant is unable to prove either element of this test.” *Id.* at 266.

If counsel failed to raise a meritorious issue a normally competent attorney would have raised, and such failure cannot be attributed to reasonable trial strategy, then we can conclude the defendant has established that counsel failed to perform an essential duty.

*State v. Schlitter*, 881 N.W.2d 380, 389 (Iowa 2016), reh'g denied (July 13, 2016) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

## **B. STANDARD OF REVIEW.**

Postconviction relief proceedings including summary dismissals are reviewed for errors at law. *Castro v. State*, 795 N.W.2d 789, 792 (Iowa 2011) (citations omitted). Issues of statutory construction are reviewed for errors at law. *Reilly v. Iowa Dist. Court for Henry County*, 783 N.W.2d 490, 493 (Iowa 2010) (citation omitted).

## **C. MERITS.**

Postconviction relief may be granted when “the person is otherwise unlawfully held in custody or other restraint.” Iowa Code § 822.2(1)(e).

On November 5, 2015, the Applicant filed a pro se application for postconviction relief stating his claim in language identical to Iowa Code § 822.2(1)(e) (“Applicant is otherwise unlawfully held in custody or other restraint.”) and alleged the following facts:

Applicant is currently parole and work release eligible and has been since 2012. By IDOC policy and procedures, applicant is required to participate and complete sex offender treatment programming (SOTP). The DOC has continually denied the applicant's requests to participate in SOTP, even though due to the law at the time applicant was sentenced he is not required to participate in SOTP, and furthermore can not by law nor by IDOC policy be punished for not taking SOTP. Applicant asserts that this is being done intentionally and maliciously as a way for the IDOC to artificially lengthen his sentence and effectively remove any meaningful chance of parole or work release for the applicant.

11/5/15 PCR Application (App. 6-8).

The State asserted: “No factual nor legal basis exists to support the allegations made by the Applicant.” 2/3/16 MSJ p. 2 (App. 13-15). However, the State offered no affidavits and offered no evidence to refute the Applicant’s allegations of fact. *See generally* 6/10/16 MSJ Hrg. Trns. The district court determined, as a matter of law, that “[t]his is not a disciplinary action” and stated: “The court concludes that it lacks subject matter jurisdiction of this action.” 7/6/16 Ruling p.3 (App. 20).

The Applicant “is eligible for a reduction of sentence equal to one and two-tenths days for each day the inmate demonstrates good conduct and satisfactorily participates in . . . [a] treatment program established by the director.” Iowa code § 903A.2(a)(1)(d).

[A]n inmate required to participate in a sex offender treatment program shall not be eligible for a reduction of sentence unless the inmate participates in and completes a sex offender treatment program established by the director.

Iowa Code § 903A.2(1)(a)(2).

“The Iowa department of corrections is established to be responsible for the control, **treatment, and rehabilitation** of offenders. . .” Iowa Code § 904.102 (emphasis added). The deputy director for offender services shall be responsible for sex offender treatment. Iowa Admin. Code R. 201-1.8(5).

“*Rehabilitative objectives or purposes*’ means activities designed to further the reintegration of the offender into the community as a productive, law-abiding citizen.” Iowa Admin. Code R. 201-40.1(905).

The United States Supreme Court has recognized the importance of sex offender treatment programs:

Therapists and correctional officers widely agree that clinical rehabilitative programs can enable sex offenders to manage their impulses and in this way reduce recidivism. . . . An important component of those rehabilitation programs requires participants to confront their past and accept responsibility for their misconduct. Denial is generally regarded as a main impediment to successful therapy and therapists depend on offenders' truthful descriptions of events leading to past offences in order to determine which behaviours need to be targeted in therapy. . . .

Acceptance of responsibility is the beginning of rehabilitation. And a recognition that there are rewards for those who attempt to reform is a vital and necessary step toward completion.

...

The State's interest in rehabilitation is undeniable.

*McKune v. Lile*, 536 U.S. 24, 33, 47-48 (2002) (holding that a reduction in privileges for refusing to admit prior conduct as part of sex offender treatment did not violate an inmate's right against self incrimination).

The Iowa Supreme Court has also recognized the importance of sex offender treatment. "No one disputes that the SOTP was established for bona fide rehabilitative purposes, or that requiring the offender to acknowledge responsibility for his offense serves one of those purposes." *State v. Iowa Dist. Court for Webster County*, 801 N.W.2d 513, 528 (Iowa 2011) (holding that "a convicted sex offender who failed to complete a treatment program due to his assertion of Fifth Amendment rights may constitutionally have his eligibility for earned-time credits suspended.").

However, unlike the inmates in *Lile* and *Webster County*, the Applicant in this case is not refusing to participate in sex offender treatment. He is not asserting his constitutional right against self



incrimination to avoid treatment. He is not refusing to take responsibility for his crime. He is not asking for credit that he has not earned.

In-fact, the Applicant has done just the opposite. He has told the Department of Corrections that he is ready, willing and able to participate and successfully complete the necessary treatment. But, the Department of Corrections has told him he must wait, because the Department's policy is to deny sex offender treatment until just prior to fully discharging his sentence, which deprives him of both the opportunity to reduce his sentence with earned time credit and to be considered for parole or work release.

The factual question presented in this case is whether the policy of the Department of Corrections serves a legitimate rehabilitative goal or whether it is nothing more than a disciplinary action based on an inmates' prior offense conduct concealed under the guise of a treatment policy with the sole purpose of ensuring maximum punishment.

When an inmate is accused of violating a prison rule, his conduct is subject to review by an independent administrative law judge appointed by the director of the Iowa Department of Corrections. Iowa

Code § 903A.1. If the rule was violated, the judge could order “forfeiture of any and all earned time.” Iowa Code § 903A.3(1). “Prior violations by the inmate may be considered.” Iowa Code § 903A.3(1). “The director shall establish rules as to what constitutes ‘satisfactory participation’ for purposes of a reduction of sentence under section 903A.2, for programs that are available or unavailable.” Iowa Code § 903A.4.

Two primary reasons for the establishment of the Department of Corrections are “treatment” and “rehabilitation.” Iowa Code § 904.102. But, under the policy of the Department Corrections, an inmate convicted of a sex offense is doomed to fully discharge his sentence with no opportunity for reduction for earned time. By waiting to offer treatment at that point, there is no incentive to participate in a sex offender treatment program even if the inmate may be willing to accept responsibility and wants to avoid making the same mistake again. The maximum punishment has been inflicted.

On the other hand, the prospect of substantially reducing one’s sentence by successfully completing sex offender treatment provides a powerful incentive. Of course, the emphasis must be on successful

completion and the Department no doubt has the ability and the tools necessary to determine whether treatment is appropriate and whether successful treatment is likely when an inmate specifically requests treatment.

Treatment decisions should be based on the individual, not on an arbitrary time schedule totally unrelated to either the needs of the individual for rehabilitation or the needs of society for protection from future crimes. The denial of treatment should not be based solely on the conduct that put the inmate in prison in the first place, and thus punitive. The decision to either provide or deny treatment should be based on an individualized assessment that considers the likelihood of successful completion and the likelihood of effective rehabilitation.

#### **D. CONCLUSION.**

The Applicant has stated a claim that is cognizable under Iowa Code § 822.2(1)(e). However, the current record is inadequate to determine whether the policy of the Department of Corrections policy serves a legitimate a rehabilitative goal or whether it is nothing more than a disciplinary action based on an inmates' prior offense conduct concealed under the guise of a treatment policy with the sole purpose of

ensuring maximum punishment. This case should be remanded to the district court for an evidentiary hearing on the Applicant's claim. See *State v. Denato*, 173 N.W.2d 576, 579 (Iowa 1970); see also *State v. Webber*, 885 N.W.2d 829, 2016 WL 4035239 (Iowa Ct. App. 2016).

### **REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

Defendant -Appellant hereby respectfully requests that this appeal be heard in oral argument upon submission of this case.