IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 16-1171

KEVIN KEL FRANKLIN, JR.,
Applicant-Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF IOWA,
Respondent-Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR UNION COUNTY
THE HONORABLE JOHN D. LLOYD, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

THOMAS J. OGDEN
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
thomas.ogden@iowa.gov

TIMOTHY R. KENYON
Union County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Franklin is Not Entitled to Relief Under Iowa Code Section 822.

Everett v. State, 789 N.W.2d 151 (Iowa 2010)

Fassett v. State, No. 15-0816, 2016 WL 3554954
(Iowa Ct. App. June 29, 2016)

Maghee v. State, 773 N.W.2d 228 (Iowa 2009)

McKeag v. State, No. 10-1084, 2011 WL 3925537
(Iowa Ct. App. Sept.8, 2011)

Miller v. State, No. 09-1853, 2011 WL 2041822
(Iowa Ct. App. May 25, 2011)

Pettit v. Iowa Department of Corrections, No. 16-0582,
2017 WL 728124 (Iowa Feb. 24, 2017)

Pierce v. State, No. 09-1853, 2011 WL 3925484
(Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 8, 2011)

Iowa Code § 822.2(1)(e)

Iowa Code § 822.2(1)(f)

ROUTING STATEMENT

Franklin seeks retention for this Court to decide whether his challenge to the parole board's policy states a claim under Iowa Code section 822.2(1)(e). The Iowa Court of Appeals has considered this issue and concluded that decisions concerning the timing of inmates' participation in sex offender treatment are agency actions that must be challenged under chapter 17A. *See Fassett v. State*, No. 15-0816, 2016 WL 3554954 at *6-7 (Iowa Ct. App. June 29, 2016). A similar claim under section 822.2(1)(a) is currently pending in *State v. Belk*, Sup. Ct. No. 16-0304. A decision in *Belk* is likely to provide guidance

in this case. Because it can be decided based on the holding of *Fassett*, transfer to the Court of Appeals is appropriate. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Kevin Kel Franklin, Jr., appeals from the summary disposition of his application for postconviction relief.

Course of Proceedings

The State accepts the defendant's course of proceedings as adequate and essentially correct. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(3).

Facts

Because of the nature of Franklin's claim, lengthy recitation of the underlying facts is not necessary. Suffice it to say that Franklin was convicted of second degree murder and second degree sexual abuse in 1990. PCR Order 07/06/16; App. 18-21. He was sentenced to consecutive fifty- and twenty-five-year terms. Any additional relevant facts will be discussed as a part of the State's argument.

ARGUMENT

I. **Franklin is Not Entitled to Relief Under Iowa Code Section 822.**

Preservation of Error

The district court considered and ruled on Franklin's claim.

Error is preserved.

Standard of Review

Review of the denial of postconviction relief is for correction of errors at law. *Everett v. State*, 789 N.W.2d 151, 155 (Iowa 2010).

Merits

Franklin is incarcerated at the Fort Dodge Correctional Facility. His tentative discharge date is in 2033. According to his application for postconviction relief, he became eligible for parole in 2012. He alleges that pursuant to the policy of the Iowa Board of Parole, he cannot be paroled until he has completed sex offender treatment. He further alleges that he has been denied the opportunity to participate in sex offender treatment by a policy of the Iowa Department of Corrections as a mechanism to "artificially lengthen his sentence." A substantially identical claim was raised in *Fassett*, 2016 WL 3554954 at *6-7.

In 2002, Fassett was sentenced to concurrent terms of ninety-nine, ninety-nine, ten, and five years. *Id.* at *1. In 2014, he filed an application for postconviction relief under section 822.2(1)(e). In it, he claimed that because he had not yet been offered an opportunity to take part in sex offender treatment, the department of corrections was effectively imposing another mandatory minimum sentence. *Id.* The court of appeals held that “decisions regarding the timing of inmates' participation in the SOTP is an agency action falling within discretion of the department of corrections and board of parole” and concluded that “chapter 17A is therefore the appropriate vehicle for Fassett's complaint regarding the fact he has not yet been allowed to participate.” *Id.* at *7.

Fassett cited *Maghee v. State*, 773 N.W.2d 228 (Iowa 2009) for the proposition that disciplinary decisions of the department of corrections are reviewable under chapter 822. The court of appeals contrasted the decision of the Iowa Supreme Court in *Maghee v. State*, 773 N.W.2d 228 (Iowa 2009) with two subsequent cases, *McKeag v. State*, No. 10-1084, 2011 WL 3925537 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept.8, 2011) and *Miller v. State*, No. 09-1853, 2011 WL 2041822 (Iowa Ct. App. May 25, 2011). *Maghee* involved the revocation of

work release, a situation explicitly covered by section 822.2(1)(e). *McKeag* and *Miller* involved challenges to the parole board's decision to do case file reviews rather than in-person interviews. *Fassett*, 2016 WL 3554954 at *6. In both cases, the court of appeals held that "because the Iowa Board of Parole is a state agency existing within the purview of chapter 17A, the complained-of actions fell within the definition of "agency action" under section 17A.2(2) and chapter 17A provided the exclusive avenue for relief." *Id.*

The court of appeals then cited *Pierce v. State*, No. 09-1853, 2011 WL 3925484 at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 8, 2011), where a panel of the court of appeals affirmed a dismissal of an application for postconviction relief alleging that the board of parole denied him due process by failing to grant him review. The court explained:

Pierce appears to have brought his postconviction relief application under section 822.2(1)(e), which affords relief where "[t]he person's sentence has expired, or probation, parole, or conditional release has been unlawfully revoked, or the person is otherwise unlawfully held in custody or other restraint." While this is the same provision invoked by *Maghee*, *Pierce*, unlike *Maghee*, did not fall within its ambit. As noted, *Maghee* asserted that the department of corrections wrongly revoked his work release, a claim that falls squarely within the language of section 822.2(1)(e). *Pierce*, in contrast, alleged that

one sentence of his multiple consecutive sentences was discharged, an allegation that is not consistent with the continuous term rule of section 901.8. Pierce also did not provide any evidence that he is unlawfully being held in custody or other restraint. Indeed, he concedes he has yet to complete the balance of his prison term. For that reason section 822.2(1)(e) does not apply to him and he cannot avail himself of postconviction review.

Pierce, 2011 WL 3925484 at *3 (internal citation omitted).

The court of appeals viewed Fassett's challenge to the timing of his placement in sex offender treatment in the same way that it viewed the challenges to board of parole policies in *McKeag*, *Miller*, and *Pierce*. It went on to explain why the administrative process is necessary to enable judicial review of Fassett's claim:

[W]ithout any administrative process to review, we are left with a record devoid of evidence regarding the status of Fassett's parole eligibility. Fassett claims he would be eligible for parole if not for the fact he has not yet been allowed to participate in the SOTP, but we do not have a record to support his claim. The record does not contain any statement by either the department of corrections or the board of parole concerning Fassett's eligibility for parole; no State authority has said why Fassett has not yet participated in the SOTP or when he will be scheduled to participate. The record does not establish conclusively that the SOTP truly is the sole remaining hurdle for Fassett to overcome on his path to early release, or

whether other barriers, such as unrelated programs—a drug treatment program for his methamphetamine convictions, for example—still remain. By seeking relief under chapter 17A, Fassett will be able to create a record sufficient to enable judicial review, if necessary.

Fassett, 2016 WL 3554954 at *7. Franklin essentially concedes this point; his brief admits that the record is insufficient to determine his claim without an “evidentiary hearing.” Appellant’s Br. at 14-15. Seeking relief under chapter 17A would allow Franklin to create his record.

The recent decision of the Iowa Supreme Court in *Pettit v. Iowa Department of Corrections*, No. 16-0582, 2017 WL 728124 (Iowa Feb. 24, 2017) does not affect the holding of *Fassett*. *Pettit* involved a challenge to sex offender treatment classification brought under chapter 17A. The Iowa Supreme Court held that the proper method for reviewing a sex offender treatment *classification* is by a postconviction relief action. *Id.* at *4. The Court’s decision hinged on the determination that the classification “is part of the disciplinary procedure because it would lead to a loss of the accrual of earned time if the inmate does not comply.” *Id.* at *6.

Because a prisoner who objected to sex offender treatment could face the loss of earned time, the Court held that the classification should be challenged under section 822.2(1)(f). *Id.* at *5; *see also* Iowa Code § 822.2(1)(f) (permitting postconviction relief where the inmate’s “reduction of sentence pursuant to sections 903A.1 through 903A.7 has been unlawfully forfeited”). In a footnote, the Court stated that section 822.2(1)(e) could possibly apply if the inmate was challenging the program while he was actually undergoing it, and thus experiencing allegedly “unlawful restraint.” *Id.* at *5 n.4.

Unlike Pettit, Franklin is not challenging his sex offender treatment classification. In his brief, he specifically distinguishes his case from cases where inmates refused to participate in treatment. Appellant’s Br. at 11-12. The timing of placement in sex offender treatment does not affect the accrual of earned time. In his brief, Franklin alleges that the department of corrections denies sex offender treatment until just prior to an inmate fully discharging his sentence—thus depriving him of “the opportunity to reduce his sentence with earned time credit.” This claim is entirely new and directly contradicts the claim that Franklin raised in his application.

While the record is sparse, Franklin testified at the hearing that his “discharge date is 2033.” PCR Tr. P.6 L.7; App. 17. His attorney then confirmed Franklin’s understanding that he “would not begin sex offender treatment until you’ve reached approximately two years prior to that discharge date.” PCR Tr. P.6 Ls.10-14; App. 17. As explained, Franklin was sentenced in 1990 to consecutive fifty- and twenty-five year terms. Without earned time, Franklin’s discharge date would not occur until 2065. He understood that he would be placed in sex offender treatment approximately two years prior to 2033, indicating that he was not deprived of the opportunity to reduce his sentence through earned time. This claim is invented on appeal and is not supported by the record. Franklin is challenging the parole board’s policy. His earned time is not implicated in any way, and *Pettit* has no application to this case.

CONCLUSION